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Boundary Description

Beginning at a point A at the intersection of the center line of 
pavement of Pearl Street and Williams Street; thence proceeding 
in a southerly direction along the center line of pavement of 
South Williams Street to a point B at the intersection of the 
center line of pavement of Main Street; thence proceeding in a 
westerly direction along the center line of pavement of Main 
Street for a distance of 120 feet more or less to a point C lo­ 
cated in the center line of pavement, said point is also the 
extension in a northerly direction of the west property line of 
land owned by the University of Vermont and known as "Grass 
Mount" and designated as Number 411 Main Street; thence pro­ 
ceeding in a southerly direction for a distance of ^474 feet 
more or less along the westerly property line of land owned by 
the University of Vermont as above described to a point D at 
the southwest corner; thence proceeding in an easterly direction 
for a distance of 276 feet more or less along the southerly pro­ 
perty line of land owned by the University of Vermont as above 
described and extended easterly to a point E located in the 
center line of pavement of Summit Street; thence proceeding in 
northerly direction for a distance of 292 feet along the center 
line of pavement of Summit Street to a point F; thence proceed­ 
ing in an easterly direction for a distance of 415 feet more or 
less to a point G located in the westerly right of way line of 
South Prospect Street, said point is located 119.57 feet south­ 
erly of the intersection of southerly right of way line of Main 
Street and the westerly right of way line of South Prospect 
Street and is designated as Monument Number 88 on the University 
of Vermont coordinate system; thence proceeding in an easterly 
direction across South Prospect Street for a distance of 4l8 
feet more or less to a point H located in the westerly property 
line of land owned by the City of Burlington, said point is 
located 140 feet southerly of the southerly right of way line of 
Main Street as measured in the westerly property line of land 
owned by the City of Burlington; thence proceeding in a souther­ 
ly direction for a distance of 619 feet more or less along the 
westerly property line of land owned by the City of Burlington 
to a point I at the southwest corner of land owned by the City 
of Burlington; thence proceeding in an easterly direction for a 
distance of 110 feet more or less along the southerly property 
line of land owned by the City of Burlington to a point J at 
the southeast corner of land owned by the City of Burlington; 
thence proceeding in a northeasterly direction for a distance of 
653 feet more or less along the easterly property line of land 
owned by the City of Burlington and the easterly property line 
extended in a northeasterly direction to a point K in the cen­ 
ter line of pavement of Main Street; thence proceeding in a 
northwesterly direction for a distance of 2^3 feet more or less
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td~%"point L in the center line of pavement of Main Street; thence 
proceeding in a northerly direction in a line parallel to and 20 
feet easterly of the east wall of Morrill Hall for a distance of 
415 feet more or less to a point M located 20 feet southerly of 
the south wall of Royall Tyler Theatre Building; thence proceeding 
in an easterly direction in a line parallel to and 20 feet south­ 
erly of the south wall of Royall Tyler Theatre for a distance of 
243 feet more or less to a point N; thence proceeding in a north­ 
erly direction in a line parallel to and 20 feet easterly of the 
east wall of Royall Tyler Theatre for a distance of 142 feet to a 
point 0; thence proceeding in a westerly direction in a line 
parallel to and 20 feet northerly of the north wall of Royall 
Tyler Theatre for a distance of 300 feet to a point P located 40 
feet easterly of the east wall of the Old Mill Building; thence 
proceeding in a northerly direction in a line parallel to and 40 
feet easterly of the east wall of the Old Mill Building for a 
distance of 260 feet more or less to a point Q; thence proceeding 
in an easterly direction for a distance of 55 feet more or less 
to a point R; thence proceeding in a northerly direction in a line 
parallel to and 25 feet easterly of the east wall of the Williams 
Science Building for a distance of 470 feet more or less to a 
point S located 22 feet northerly of the north wall of Votey 
Engineering Building extended westerly; thence proceeding in an 
easterly direction in a line parallel to and 22 feet northerly of 
the north wall of Votey Engineering Building for a distance of 
120 feet more or less to a point T; thence proceeding in a north­ 
erly direction for a distance of 370 feet more or less to a point 
U located in the center line of pavement of Colchester Avenue; 
thence proceeding in a westerly direction along the center line 
of pavement of Colchester Avenue for a distance of 105 feet more 
or less to a point V located at the intersection of the center 
line of pavement of Mansfield Avenue; thence proceeding in a 
northerly direction along the center line of pavement of Mansfielc 
Avenue for a distance of 185 feet more or less to a point W; 
thence turning an angle of 90° and proceeding in a westerly 
direction for a distance of 250 feet more or less to a point X; 
thence proceeding in a northwesterly direction for a distance of 
283 feet more or less to a point Y located in the northerly right 
of way line of North Prospect Street, said point is designated as 
Monument Number 4l on the University of Vermont coordinate system; 
thence proceeding in a southwesterly direction across North Pros­ 
pect Street for a distance of 426 feet more or less to a point Z; 
thence proceeding in a southerly direction for a distance of 135 
feet more or less to a point AA located in the center line of 
pavement of Pearl Street; thence proceeding in a westerly direc­ 
tion for a distance of 278 feet more or less along the center 
line of pavement of Pearl Street to the point of beginning.

("continued on Continuation Sheet #2)
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Physical Description

The University of Vermont Green is a long, slightly irregular 
rectangle of a park at the center of the main campus. Four roads 
form its boundaries: two east/west arteries, Colchester (Pearl) 
and Main Streets; and two north/south arteries, South Prospect 
and University Place. The university and city buildings which 
line these streets face the green from all four sides. These 
structures and the park they surround comprise the University 
Green Historic District.

The Green is treed and crisscrossed by paths, many of which radi­ 
ate from the large fountain and pool located at its center. 
Benches and statues are scattered across its rolling surface. 
Because its eastern side is considerably higher than the western 
side, the park provides a dramatic topographic pedestal for the 
buildings along University Place. As a group, these buildings 
sitting along this rise represent the most outstanding architec­ 
ture at the University. Although they range in date from 1825 to 
1926 and represent a variety of types of institutional buildings, 
they are similar enough in design, scale, placement, materials 
and detailing to form a highly coherent group. At the eastern 
end of this group, on the corner of University Place and Main 
Street, Morrill Hall relates visually to Pomeroy Hall which faces 
the Green from Main Street. This pair serves to define the cor­ 
ner of the Green.

A second group of buildings similar in style, form, scale, place­ 
ment and fabric is formed by the domestic structures west of 
Pomeroy Hall along Main, around the corner along South Prospect 
as far as Alumni House and along the entire length of South 
Williams Street which runs parallel to and west of South Prospect

The third visual unit consists of the buildings along South Pros­ 
pect north of Alumni, around the corner to Colchester (Pearl). 
Three large, twentieth century institutional buildings - Waterman 
The Baird Institute of the DeGoesbriand Hospital and John Dewey 
Hall - dominate the group but are interspersed with a number of 
buildings on a domestic scale.

These three visual groups of buildings around the perimeter of 
the Green work together to define it as a distinct area. Similari.y 
the series of paths crossing the Green serve, both visually and 
physically to relate structures across the park from each other.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #3)________________
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Hence , the University of Vermont Green is the site of a number of 
buildings which are highly distinctive architecturally and which 
set up a number of highly complex visual and stylistic relation­ 
ships among themselves.

Group I: Ira Alien Chapel stands at the northeast corner of the 
Green on University Place. Its plan takes the form of a Latin 
cross, 50 feet by 135 feet, with 46 feet wide transepts extending 
20 feet 6 inches on either side of the main body. The walls of 
the building, constructed of local brick laid in English bond, 
stand 40 feet. The chapel's most impressive facade - a full 
temple gable front, six columns wide with full entablature and 
pediment - faces the Green. A low, hexagonal dome which is capped 
with a gilded lantern surmounts the crossing. A bell tower rises 
170 feet from the northwest corner of the intersecting nave and 
transept. Eight foot clock faces are set into each of the four 
sides of the tower just below the bell. At night, the beacon 
flashing from the tower's peak provides a landmark for those 
approaching Burlington via road or Lake Champ lain.

The structure's detailing and its materials - brick with woodwork 
painted white - are typical of the Georgian Revival work of the 
firm of McKim, Meade and White of New York at the date of its con­ 
struction, 1926.

Behind the chapel to the northwest, facing Colchester Avenue (Pearl) 
is a two-and-a-half story rough stone structure known as Mansfield 
House. Designed and built as a residence for professors in 1891,
the structure has an irregular floor plan and is interesting for 
its combination of materials - stone and the stucco and wood of 
half timbering.

Behind the chapel to the west is the Old Art Building. Originally 
this structure was a two story brick block measuring 40 by 60 feet 
As the University's library and second major liberal arts building, 
it was given a prominent location facing the Green on University 
Place when it was erected in 1862. Eleven years later a third 
story and mansard roof were added. In 1895 the structure was moved 
to its present location so that Williams Science Hall could be con­ 
structed on its site. In the move the building was turned 90 de­ 
grees so that it now faces south instead of west. A few years 
later a two story wing was added to the east side and a year later 
Henry LeGrand Cannon had the single story wing added to the west 
wall to house the collection he was bequesting to the University 
museum. When, in 1942, the building became the studio art center, 
skylights were installed in the roof. The structure has retained 
its particularly fine cast iron hoodmoulds.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #4)__________________
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South of the chapel and next in the line of buildings facing the 
Green from University Place is Billings. An imposing structure 
of rusticated Longmeadow sandstone set in regular ashlar with a 
slate roof, Billings exemplifies the style named for its architect 
"Richardsonian Romanesque." H. H. Richardson designed this struc­ 
ture and its furnishings between 1883 and 1885. It was named in 
honor of its donor, Frederick Billings.

The main, west, portal is dominated by an arched entranceway set 
within a gable and flanked by two corner towers. The northern towler 
is larger in scale and height than the southern and has an open 
belfry. From the southwest corner of this porch a wing extends 
southward and intersects with a large polygonal apse which was once 
the library's main reading room. Similarly, a rectangular wing ex 
tends northward from the northwest corner of the porch. Originally 
this wing was shorter, but in 1889 it was extended 25 feet to the 
north. A 40 foot square room was added to the rear of the struc­ 
ture during the same building program.

Billings is an outstanding building in its interior and exterior 
detailing and in its superb spacial relationships. Each room of 
the structure rises a full two stories at the center with balconies 
surrounding the sides. An almost continuous band of clerestory 
windows provides light for these balconies and creates the illusion 
of lightening the roof. The result of this design is the sensaticn 
that great volumes of space cluster around the central space of tte 
building, the "living" or entrance hall. Both the organization of 
space and this room with its monumental carved and hooded fireplac e 
and inglenooks opposite the front door and its large, open entrance- 
ways into the subsidiary rooms are typical of architectural desigr 
in the l880's. The staircase which one would expect to find in tte 
living hall of this type of plan was originally visible through a 
series of large stepped arches on the northwest wall of the room. 
These open arches were later plastered over.

In 1961 the library volumes were moved to a new building and 
Billings became the University's student center. The basement of 
the building was remodeled in 1971 by Burlington Associates.

The next building to the south along University Place is Williams 
Science Hall. Its plan is a cruciform with the front (west) wing 
so shortened that it appears to be no more than a slightly pro­ 
jecting pavilion. On this plan a seventeen bay, three-and-a-half 
story brick elevation rises 90 feet from a rusticated granite 
foundation. The fenestration changes at each level. The basement 
windows take the form of paired narrow rectangles; on the first 
floor level two smaller windows surmount a pair identical to those 
in the basement; the second floor windows have arched tops, stone

on Continuation Sheet #5)
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tracery and are set within an arcade; while the third floor window 
are set within an intertwining arcade, supported by ornamental 
terra cotta columns.

The central pavilion of the building is dominated by two arches: 
the large entrance arch outlined by ornate archivolts rises to the 
height of the first story; a larger, broader arch encloses the 
three central bays and almost fills the gables. Between these two 
arches are three stories of windows corresponding in form to the 
windows on the main block of the building. The pavilion is 
abundantly decorated with terra cotta ornament including three 
medallions containing relief portraits of three men of American 
Science - Agassiz, Morse and Henry.

Eight dormers at two levels break the outline of the steeply 
pitched slate roof. The ridge line of the roof is crowned by a 
cupola at the mid point of each of the three wings.

Although Williams Science Hall is considerably larger than Billing 
the greater delicacy of Williams 1 "Gothic" detail tends to counter 
act the difference. Furthermore, in terms of overall design, the 
details of the two buildings - the bold entrance arches, the 
arcaded bands of windows - aid in relating the two buildings. The 
relationship between Williams and its neighbors, Billings and the 
Old Mill, was hardly accidental. The administration, wishing to 
create a "true University row," selected this site for the new 
structure and had the Old Art Building moved to fulfill the plan.

Williams Science Hall was designed by Wilson Bros, and Co., Civil 
Engineers and Architects of Philadelphia in 189^ and was erected 
by a Philadelphia construction firm, Stacy, Reeves and Sons. 
Wilson Bros., who also designed the Masonic Temple in Burlington, 
based Williams "on broad principle" on Ruskin's design for the 
Oxford Museum in London.

South of Williams stands the Old Mill. The long horizontal facade 
of this three-and-a-half story brick building is broken by three 
large projecting, gabled pavilions - one at the center and one at 
either end. The recessed arched panels, three bays wide and four 
stories high, contained in each pavilion facade as well as the 
building's fabric relate it directly to Williams Science Hall. 
These pavilion arches are also related to the smaller arched main 
doorways surmounted by gables at Williams, Billings and the Old 
Mill's neighbor to the south, the Old Gym.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #6)__________________
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The central pavilion is slightly taller than the two end ones. It 
stain glass windows are elongated and vertically span more than one 
floor. The increased space between the top of the arch and the peak 
of the gable allows room for a group of three arched windows. 
Directly above this middle pavilion, at the center of the slate roof 
sites an open belfry topped by a steeple. The two flanking pavilion 
are shorter, narrower and shallower but similar in overall design.

As it appears today the Old Mill is the product of many remodeling 
The original Old Mill was erected on this site in 1801-2 through 
donations by local citizens. It was the University's first acadenic 
building. When it was destroyed by fire in 1824, a complex of three 
brick structures built on line with one another, seven to twelve 
feet apart was erected. The gaps between the buildings were de­ 
signed as security against losing the entire University plant to 
fire. A gilded dome crowned the central building. In 1846 the 
gaps were filled in to form the bays that now appear as the 
pavilions. In l88l the dome was removed and a year later the en­ 
tire building was reconstructed on the plans of J.J.R. Randall of 
Rutland. This building program included: the addition of "several 
stories...front wall broken up by projections at either end, chapel 
extended both front and rear...blank walls at the north and south 
side pierced by windows and doors." Although sections of the 
building had to be rebuilt after a fire in 1918, and the interior 
has been renovated a number of times since the 1882-3 remodeling, 
the Old Mill owes its present appearance to that building program,

The "college row" on the eastern side of the green can be viewed 
as an ordered group of six paired buildings with the two most 
closely related structures - Williams Science Hall and the Old 
Mill - serving as the central pair. Their flanking structures - 
Billings and the Old Gym - form the second pair. Both Billings 
and the Old Gym are representative of 19th century Romanesque; 
both facades are dominated by large arched doorways surmounted by 
a row of five windows within a gable; both are constructed on 
similar scales with similar materials. However, while the sub­ 
sidiary spaces at Billings are wings set at right angles to the 
main section of the building, those at the Old Gym take the form 
of single story aisles with clerestories and hence refer to 
medieval Tuscan basilicas. The ornamented brickwork of the 
arched entranceway is set into the wall, recessed behind this 
principal arch.

The structure was erected in stone on a brick and concrete founda­ 
tion in 1901. Andrews, Jacques and Rantoul were the architects. 
Originally, the building measured 99 by 140 feet. In 1915 A.L. 
Lawrence designed the 100 by 120 foot extension at the east end 
of the building. This addition, with its glass roof and dirt floor 
was used as a drill hall and indoor cage.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #7) GPO 921-724
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The building's strange location, out of line with the rest of the 
buildings along University Place, is explained by the fact that the 
University did not own the land to the south at that time. In 
fact, in order to have the building face west as its neighbors do, 
it was necessary to purchase a small strip of the adjacent corner 
lot.

Prom its construction in 1901 until 1927, when the city erected 
Memorial Auditorium, the building played a dual role as a University 
and civic cultural center. It was the scene of University convoca­ 
tions, public concerts, balls, plays and the home of the Burlington 
Symphony Orchestra. When the University built a new gym in 1963, 
the building was remodeled to accomodate the ROTC program and vari­ 
ous offices. In 1973-7^ the interior was again reworked on the 
plan of Burlington Associates to serve as theatre.

While the four central buildings within "college row" can be easily 
sorted into visually related pairs, Morrill Hall relates to the 
Chapel only through the classical details of the upper two floors 
and the central projecting, gabled pavilion. Morrill is constructed 
on a concrete and random ashlar foundation. Its main block extencs 
three bays to either side of the central pavilion. The first flocr 
is architecturally treated as a podium and is articulated by six 
projecting bands of five bricks each. From this base rise two 
stories of brick articulated at the corners in the form of broad 
pilasters and above the third floor windows in the form of a 
narrow cornice. The hip roof with flared eaves is tiled.

Morrill Hall was erected 1904-7 on the designs of a New York 
architect, C. W. Buckham, and named in honor of Justin Smith 
Morrill, author of the Land Grant College Act.

The facade of Morrill Hall is not precisely on line with the other 
major structures along University Row. Rather, it faces slightly 
toward the south and opens the corner of the Green area to visually 
include the City of Burlington's Main Street Pumping Station. This 
is a small, one story brick structure on a stone foundation. In 
plan, its basic unit is a rectangle with a square tower breaking 
off the east wall and an ell breaking off the south wall.

In elevation, the Main Street facade of the principle rectangular 
unit is pierced by a door, slightly to the east of center; by a 
pair of windows in the shape of a quarter oval to either side of 
the door; and by a third small window slightly to the west of 
center. The bold design of the fenestration and the unusual brick 
work which emphasizes it is the building's most distinctive feature 
A projecting course of brick rises in a semi-circular arch from the

(continued on Continuation Sheet #8)
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outer lower corner of each of the two quarter oval windows flanking 
the door. At the upper inside corners of the two windows, the brick 
course drops directly downward, continues to outline the windows 
for a short distance; then each side turns a right angle toward th 
door and moves horizontally to the door frame, turns a right angle 
upward and outlines the door until the two sides of the course meet 
above the door in an arch. The overall shape which the brick course 
conveys is an elaborated half circle. A similar, unbroken half 
circle is found in the brick course around the triple windows on 
the west side of the building. This unit is capped by a slate roof 
with flared gables.

The tower rises two stories. Its Main Street facade is pierced by 
a centrally placed door with a semi-circular light. A pent roof 
encompasses the tower between its first and second floors at the 
cornice level of the main structure. On the second story, in a 
verticle line with the door, is a round window elaborated with the 
same type of brickwork that surrounds the main door and windows. 
A sharply pointed roof of scalloped slate caps the tower.

The pump house was erected by the city when the Main Street 
Reservoir opened in 1867.

West of the Pump House on Main, facing the Green is Pomeroy Hall. 
The essentially square form of this four story brick structure is 
broken by a projecting central pavilion. This pavilion is formed 
by a square stairtower. Visually, it is dominated by the vertical 
column of door and window openings: the lines of the first floor 
door with its segmental arch are continued in the elongated two- 
and-a-half story window with a semi-circular top. This column is 
set within a recessed panel of the same configuration which is, 
in turn, set within a recessed rectangular panel almost as large 
as the facade of the structure.

A single bay of windows is set to either side of the stairtower. 
These windows decrease in height at each floor level. A cornice 
with sawtooth corbelling along its lower edge runs around the 
entire building, interrupted only by the corner pilasters of the 
stairtower, the fourth floor windows and the exterior chimney on 
the west side of the structure. Three ells, each one story shorter 
than the other, have been added on the rear of the building.

As the second oldest building constructed specifically for the 
University, Pomeroy's history has been as uneven as it is long. 
When it was built by "public spirited" Burlingtonians as the 
medical college in 1829, it was only two stories. The water cures 
and health fads of the 1830 r s and l840's caused the medical school 
to go bankrupt and close in 1836. Physics and chemistry classes
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took over the building until 1853 when classes in medicine resumec 
Five years later the third floor, the amphitheatre, the stairtower 
with a cupola and the three story brick ell were added. The 
second ell was added in 1870. In 1887 the structure was reassigne 
as an experimental agricultural station and within two years was 
renovated: the amphitheatre was removed, the third floor divided 
into two floors. With the completion of Morrill Hall the experi­ 
mental station moved out and the building was abandoned for six 
years. It was reinhabited and a third ell was added in 1920. 
years later the cupola was removed and the interior remodeled, 
interior has seen a number of updatings and new inhabitants in the 
last twenty years.

Group II: Pomeroy's neighbors to the west and northwest around 
the Green represent various phases of 19th century domestic archi­ 
tecture. Immediately to the west is 481 Main Street (presently the 
Classics, Philosophy and Religion Building).The front elevation 
of this two-and-a-half story structure is dominated by a tall tower 
on the northwest with an onion dome. This bold form is balanced by 
the northeast side of the front elevation which projects toward 
the Green and which contains a large, semicircular bay window 
surmounted by a single central window on the second floor and a 
dormer on the third. The first floor of the structure consists of 
irregularly laid, rusticated sandstone; the remainder of the 
building is sheathed in half timbering. A shingled roof flows 
continuously over the entire irregular surface of the roof area. 
Its planes are interrupted by a number of interior chimneys and 
dormers.

This building's neighbor to the west, 479 Main Street, is suffi­ 
ciently similar in scale, materials and design to indicate that 
the two structures were designed as a pair, Like 481, 479 Main i:; 
constructed of rusticated sandstone on the first floor, wood on 
the second and has a shingled roof. While 48l had a gabled proje 
tion on the eastern corner of the northern facade, 479 has a 
similar projection on the western corner. In 479, the projection 
is balanced by a boldly arched entranceway emphasized by employing 
darker stone. On the second floor, directly above this arch, is 
a gable with an arched ornamental truss and pendant.

Both buildings were designed for the University by a Philadelphia]! 
architect in 1890 and built on land and with funds donated by J.H 
Converse. Alien House, to the west of 479 Main, on the southeast 
corner of Main and South Prospect, was built as a home by a Mr. 
Boardman about 1815. At some time before 1833, it served as a 
University common. Not long afterwards, it passed back into pri­ 
vate hands and wasn't reacquired by the University until the 20th 
century.

___(continued on Continuation Sheet #10)_______ _________
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Originally, this two-and-a-half story, five bay wide, frame house 
was a simple rectangle capped by a hip roof. During a late 19th 
or early 20th century remodeling, a bay window was added to the 
northwest corner, and a large porch was built onto the east. A 
pair of dormers now break the simple line of the roof. Recently 
the building was sheathed with aluminum siding.

Across the street from Alien House, on the southwest corner of 
South Prospect and Main stands "Bittersweet;" The main block of 
"Bittersweet" is a two-and-a-half storied, three bay structure 
with a stone foundation and a gable roof made of slate. A single 
interior end chimney on the south pierces the roof. Prom the 
southern end of this block stretches a one-and-a-half story wooder 
recessed wing with an ell.

The facade of the structure is very simple: a one story, one bay, 
entrance porch with a pediment resting on columns and a bay window 
at the south corner of the main portion of the structure ornament 
the facade of the main block. A one story wooden porch fills the 
intersection of the main section and the wing. Two dormers break 
out from the roof above this wing. At the rear of the building 
there is a two story wooden porch.

The building was constructed in the early 19th century as a home 
and trading post for Thaddeus Tuttle. During the 19^0's and 
1950»s it was the home of writer Margaret L.H. Smith who moved 
the "Bittersweet" plaque from her Spear Street farmhouse (no 
longer standing) and mounted it on the front of this structure. 
Today, the building serves as headquarters for the Environmental 
Studies Program.

Across Main Street from "Bittersweet" on the northwest corner is 
Wheeler House. Together these two structures define the corner 
of the Green. A two story brick structure, the main body is a 
cube measuring three bays on every side except the north where a 
long, two story ell extends. A hip roof, pierced by two interior 
chimneys and topped with a balustraded deck caps the building's 
geometric form.

The principle facade (southern) of Wheeler House is distinguished 
by a handsome porch. Enclosing the central doorway, this porch 
consists of elegantly proportioned columns with Corinthian 
capitals supporting a full entablature. The door itself is tall 
and surrounded by side and transom lights. A second, one story 
wooden porch has been added to the western end of the structure.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #11)
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When Wheeler House was designed by Ammi Young in 18^ it was in­ 
tended to serve both as a private residence for the president of 
the University and as a residence with meeting rooms for students 
In 19^4 the building was acquired from the Wheeler family for a 
University infirmary.

The Counseling and Testing Service building stands to the south­ 
west of Wheeler House on Main Street but fronts on South Williams 
Street. A two-and-a-half story, gable end front, brick building 
with ells, it measures three bays across its principle facade. 
The structure's form and details - the door with its side and fan 
lights surmounted by a full entablature, the granite window sills 
and the full height corner pilasters - identify it as Greek Reviva

The Counseling and Testing Service building is the earliest of the 
fine group of 19th and early 20th century domestic structures alorg 
South Williams between Main and Colchester (Pearl) Streets. To­ 
gether these two blocks of buildings represent a wide sampling of 
the directions domestic buildings took during the period. Most of 
the structures on the eastern side of the street are now University 
buildings. Those on the western side are fraternities or privately 
owned. All have maintained the appearance, scale and setting of 
private homes.

Alumni House, north of Wheeler House and facing South Prospect 
forms the northern boundary of the group of predominantly domestic 
structures. This two-and-a-half story, brick, neo-Colonial home 
built in 1895 was purchased by the University in the 1950's.

The structure sits on a random ashlar foundation with a granite 
water table. Its brick is laid in running bond with a more elab­ 
orate pattern in the area of the windows. The cornice is wooden 
with carved ornaments in the form of garlands and dentils. The 
asphalt shingle roof is topped with a balustraded deck and pierced 
by three interior chimneys.

The form of the building is essentially that of a cube with an 
attached ell. A number of curved window bays, dormers and a porcl" 
which wraps from the midpoint of the South Prospect Street side tc 
the midpoint of the College Street side break out from this cubic; 
form.

' ^-1 \*-iI -1 f/oy v -MI £, ~~1 •- • »-/»"-.• |—
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Group III: Northwest of Alumni House, at the midpoint of that
section of South Prospect Street which faces the Green, and facing 
University row, is Waterman, the University's main administrative 
building. A very large, two-and-a-half story, brick, Colonial 
Revival structure, Waterman's composition consists of a principle 
rectangular unit with a central pavilion, extended on both sides 
by a pair of short symmetrical wings which intersect with a pair 
of projecting pavilions. In plan the building would resemble a 
stubby H except that the projecting central pavilion in front 
(east) and its counterpart, a projecting pavilion with a one story 
rounded bay, interrupt the cross bar at midpoint.

Waterman's detailing, materials and basic forms relate it strongly 
to its neighbors to the south, Alumni House and Wheeler House. 
Its designers - the firm of McKin, Meade and White - must have 
taken these two buildings into account when they designed Watermar 
in 1941. The building relates to its northern neighbors at the 
corner of the Green, DeGoesbriand Hospital on the southwest cornei 
of South Prospect and Colchester (Pearl) and John Dewey Hall on 
the northeast corner in size, scale and materials.

lined South Prospect remain. The Math Building (*J1 South Prospect
which sits next door to Waterman was once quite similar to its 
neighbor to the north, the Sociology Building. Both are 1810 to 
1820, two-and-a-half story, five bay frame houses set with their 
long axis parallel to the road. However, at some point in the 
1880's or 1890's the Math Building was stylistically updated, 
greatly enlarged, and became a two family house. Today, it appeals 
that the original house intersects a three-and-a-half story gable 
end to the road structure at the ridge line of the roof. On the 
front of the building, a pair of two story window bays supporting 
pediments on brackets were added to either side of the first flooi 1 
porch sheltering the pair of doors. This porch is surmounted by 
a second, somewhat smaller porch with a smaller ornamented pediment 
A fourth pediment, also ornately carved, rises above and behind 
this one in the roof gable of the addition. This rich carving, 
found in all four pediments, plays against the patterned scroll 
work of the porches. Unfortunately, the equally rich and varied 
shingling - a wave pattern on the bays, scallops in the highest 
front pediment and the pediment and sides of the supports of the 
whimsical gable balcony in the rear - and its interplay with the 
other patterns and textures was lost in 197^ when the house and 
its shingles were covered with aluminum siding. Fortunately, the 
pediment and porches were not covered.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #13)________________
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Next door, the Sociology Building has retained more of its early 
19th century character. A two story enclosed porch extends the 
building's basic rectangular form on the north end, and a one 
story enclosed porch extends it to the south. The half crescent 
windows flanking the interior and chimneys as they pass through 
each gable are similar to those on the Math building. The semi­ 
circular fanlight has remained above the central front door which 
is sheltered by a pedimented porch supported by two freestanding 
columns.

The Sociology building's neighbor to the north, the Baird Institu :
Center for Disorders of Communications (DeGoesbriand Hospital 
Building) is as large and overpowering in comparison as the Math 
building's neighbor to the south, Waterman. Like Waterman, Baird 
design is based on three projecting pavilions linked by wings 
which are parallel to the road. Baird 's pavilions are shallower 
than those at Waterman. Only the central one extends into an ell 
in the rear.

The building was constructed in 1925 as the Bishop DeGoesbriand 
Hospital. Behind and above the one story brick and granite porch 
which was added to the central doorway at a later date, one can 
still see the original name carved in granite. Today it is part 
of the larger DeGoesbriand Hospital complex that has grown up 
behind it.

Directly across Pearl (Colchester) Street from one of the hospital
newer units is one of Burlington's finest early homes, the Moore-
Woodbury House. (4l6 Pearl Street). Built about 1815, this e legantly
proportioned brick house sits long axis parallel to the road on a 
stone foundation. Its plan is that of a rectangle with a large ell 
off the rear. Two late 19th century additions - an oriel window 
on the eastern end wall and a two story wood porch on the western 
end wall, which may have replaced an earlier porch, break out of 
the rectangular format.

Five bays span the front of the structure. The central bay which 
contains the door is treated as a pavilion and is topped with its 
own arched roof. Granite stairs with inverted brackets at the 
level of the landing lead up to the pavilion and to a pair of 
carved paneled doors .surmounted by a large granite lintel. A 
flat roofed porch supported by heavy, carved wooden brackets in 
turn supports a fenced balcony onto which the second floor French 
doors open. These doors are finished at the top with a light in 
the form of a segmental arch. A marble hoodmould surmounts the 
French doors.

(continued on Continuation Sheet ffl4)_______________
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The hoodmould, the door, the brackets above and below the door and 
those which were along the raised brick cornice until they were re 
moved in 1972 were added at a later date, perhaps in 1886 when 
Urban A. Woodbury purchased the house. The first and second floor 
windows with their plain stone sills and flush headers are more 
indicative of the house's original appearance. At the cornice 
level where the brick is raised, four quarter windows are tucked 
beneath the eaves of the low hip roof. The contour of the roof's 
overhang appears to have been altered. A second hip roof with a 
flattened peak surmounts the asphalt shingle surface of the first. 
Four interior end chimneys must have once been visible in the roof 
of the main block of the structure. Today, two are visible - the 
left front chimney with its corbelled top and a smaller right rear 
chimney. Neither are original.

The Moore-Woodbury House is as outstanding for its historical 
associations as for its architecture. From 1886 well into the 
20th century it was the home of Urban Woodbury, Mayor of Burlingtcn 
and Governor of Vermont. A bronze plaque on the front of the 
building records that during Woodbury's tenancy three Presidents 
of the United States were entertained in the home: William McKinley 
in 1897; Theodore Roosevelt in 1902; and William H. Taft in 1900. 
Today the building is divided into apartments.

Adjacent to the Moore-Woodbury House, on the corner of Colchester 
(Pearl) and Prospect, is the Lamda Iota Fraternity House. Like its 
neighbor, Lamda Iota is a two-and-a-half story brick structure with 
its long axis parallel to the road. Its general style would best 
be described as Colonial Revival. It was constructed in 1913.

The building is dominated by a two story colonaded portico which 
spans the entire seven bay front. Eight Doric columns support the 
roof. Behind these columns, the tall, granite silled, 4/6 window 
of the first floor flank a very large central doorway with a transom 
light. Above the full portico, three rounded dormers break out of 
the pitched roof.

On the east and west end walls of the building are huge double end 
chimneys with the spaces between each pair infilled. These dominate 
the profile of the structure. At the first floor level of these end 
walls are one story porches supported by triple Doric columns; on 
the second floor are large arched windows with shallow balustraded 
balconies. At this level, the eaves on either side of the chimney 
are filled with stone.

(continued on Continuation Sheet #15)________________
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Lamda lota's neighbor to the east, John Dewey Hall, occupies the 
northeast corner of the Colchester (Pearl) and Prospect Street 
intersection at the northern head of the Green. A large rectangular 
brick building, three stories above the water table and a full stcry 
below, its size and scale relate it more closely to the Baird 
(DeGoesbriand) building and Waterman than to its other neighbors. 
Like these others, it is a horizontal building with its long axis 
parallel to the road. Like the others, it has a central, projecting 
pavilion containing the entranceway. At Dewey Hall a two-story 
porch rises on two Ionic columns in front of the door. Above the 
porch, on the third floor of the pavilion, is a granite plaque 
carved with "University of Vermont, College of Medicine 1825 1905. 
Square windows with a crisscross pattern flank the plaque.

When the building was erected in 1905, it served as the medical 
college. Its original purpose was, no doubt, partly responsible 
for the structure's size and scale. Today, it houses the Psycholcgy 
Department.

To the northeast of John Dewey, at 2 Colchester Avenue, is a three 
story, six bay wide, two bay deep frame house and ell on a rubble 
foundation. An asphalt shingle hip roof with a three bay shed 
dormer centered on the front caps the structure. A single, off- 
centered interior chimney pierces this roof. The four central 
bays of the structure are framed by a one story porch with plain 
wooden columns, railings and stickwork.

This structure has long claimed to be the oldest frame house in 
Burlington, erected in 1789. It would seem more likely that some 
part of it was built in 1789, but that the main body of the build­ 
ing is of a somewhat later date. The University acquired and re­ 
modelled the building in 1915. Today it houses Special Education

Next door to the east, across Colchester Avenue from Mansfield 
House is the last building fully visible from the Green. It is a 
tall, three-and-a-half story, gable front, frame building with a 
tower intersecting its southwest corner. A two story porch with 
wooden railings and scroll work at the top of the columns screens 
the entire three bay span of the front of the building. This 
structure provides a fine, vertically oriented visual boundary 
for the Green District.
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Located on the southwest corner of Summer and Main Streets is 
"Grassmount," a 2%-story, Federal style house of brick load bear­ 
ing construction with a hip roof, roof balustrade, cupola, paired 
interior chimney stacks, and an elaborate facade five bays across 
Erected in 1804 by Thaddeus Tuttle, "Grassmount" was later the 
residence of Cornelius P. Van Ness, Governor of Vermont from 
1823 to 1826. "Grassmount" is one of the finest and most elabo­ 
rate examples of a large Adamesque-Federal style mansion in 
Vermont and is one of the outstanding landmarks in the architec­ 
turally and stylistically rich University district of the city of 
Burlington.

"Grassmount" was entered on the National Register of Historic 
Places on April 11, 1973.
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Finally the district is significant as a resource to the University 
and to the City. The buildings function as a visual testimony of 
the University's history. For example. Billings, Williams Science 
Hall, Mansfield House and 4?9 and 48l Main are the architectural 
scorecard for a rivalry between three alumni from Woodstock. At 
various times, in various ways, the district has played an impor­ 
tant role in the social history of Burlington. In the early 19th 
century the Green itself served as a public common. Local citizer.s 
contributed toward the building of Pomeroy as a medical school in 
1829. For many years the Old Gym served as Burlington's civic 
center. Today the hospital brings people from the entire north­ 
western Vermont/upstate New York region to the Green area. 
Similarly, lectures, concerts and plays at the Chapel and Billing! 
attract a great many people from the greater Burlington area to the 
Green District.
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The district boundary description was prepared by H. G. Abbott 
for the Administrative Resources Department of the University 
of Vermont.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

LS

When the Green was given to the University in 1791 by its founder 
Ira Alien, the motivation for- the gift was somewhat suspect. H 
intentions for the use of the land, however, became clear in hi 
1801 letter of protest to the trustees:

"I have observed that you are about to erect buildings 
on lands that have been appropriated for a public 
green to contribute both to the convenience, elegance 
and use of the University of Vermont."

Alien's complaint, heeded by the trustees, brought about the 
single most important decision affecting the University's 
appearance and layout - the establishment of a central park 
plan. Because the University Green Historic District encompass 
this large area with its many structures, its significance is 
multi-faceted. Overall, however, it functions exactly as Alien 
hoped it would.

Architecturally, the district is invaluable and unusual for the 
visual coherence it achieves despite the disparity of building 
size and styles. A number of the buildings - those of "Univers 
row," the Pump House, Pomeroy Hall, Wheeler House or the Moore-

ity

Woodbury House - could rest simply on the merits of their designs 
Within the format of a district these architecturally outstandi 
structures become even more important. A quarter of the buildi 
the "University row" group, situated on the east edge of the Green 
and at the crest of Burlington's hill, form the city's skyline. 
Billings is the only structure designed by architect H.H. Richard­ 
son in the state.

The area around the green has served as the primary focus for 
higher education in Vermont for almost two centuries. The dis­ 
trict, significant as the nucleus of the main campus and the 
midpoint between the two units of the Medical Center complex, 
is also a primary route for pedestrian traffic. Contiguous with 
both of the two east-west transportation corridors, Routes 2 and 
7, it is part of two of the four major automobile traffic route:* 
between downtown Burlington and the rest of the state.

( continued on Hnntinnatl nn
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thence southeasterly along the centerline of Hardy Brook to the Depot 
Street bridge at Point C; thence easterly along the centerline of 
Depot Street and an extension thereof to an intersection with the 
centerline of the Boston and Maine Railroad track at Point D; thence 
southerly along the centerline of the Boston and Main Railroad track 
to an intersection with the line of the prominent escarpment south 
of the Waits River at Point E; thence southwesterly along the upper 
edge of the escarpment to an intersection with the centerline of 
U.S. Route 5 at Point F; thence westerly to an intersection with the 
centerline of South Main Street at Point G, 400 feet south of the 
intersection of the centerlines of South Main Street and Cobblestone 
Alley; thence westerly along the south property line of House 371 
to the southwest corner of the property at Point H; thence northerly 
along the west property lines of House #71 and contiguous buildings 
fronting on the west side of South Main Street to Point I, 250 feet 
south of Goshen Road; thence westerly to an intersection with the 
centerline of South Pleasant Street at Point J, 250 feet south of the 
intersection of the centerlines of South Pleasant Street and Goshen 
Road; thence northerly along the centerline of South Pleasant Street 
to an intersection with the south property line of House #73 at Point 
K; thence westerly along the south property line of House #73 and an 
extension thereof to an intersection with the centerline of High Street 
at Point L; thence northerly along the centerline of High Street to 
the intersection of the centerlines of High Street and Goshen Road at 
Point M; thence easterly along the centerline of Goshen Road to an 
intersection with the west property line of House #77; thence northerly 
along the west property lines of House #77 and contiguous buildings 
fronting the west side of North Pleasant Street to the northwest 
property corner of House #81 at Point 0; thence easterly along the 
north property line of House #81 to an intersection with the centerline 
of North Pleasant Street at Point P; thence northerly along the 
centerline of North Pleasant Street to the point of beginning.
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CAMPUS AAAP
The University of Vermont 
Burlington, Vermont 05401
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THE WATERMAN BUILDING (No. 42) is the University's main 
administration building. Visitors seeking information will find 
an Information Office just inside the main entrance.

UNIVERSITY INFORMATj£
(Nights, Weekends, I t 

656-3480 
/s 656-3131)

'ALPHABETICAL LISTING
"30 Agricultural Engineering Barn
31. Agricultural Engineering Building
59. Alien Houie
46. Alumm Hou.e
45. Alumni Houie Annex
12 Art Building
53. Auttin Hall

36. Bailey Library
27. Benedict Auditorium
22. Billing* Student Center
85. Bio-Reiearch Complex
60. Bittenweet
66. Blundell Houie
19. But It hom Hall
34. Burlington Dental Clinic

^Pnill^sfll''

37 Carrigan Dairy Science Building 
7. Centennial Field 

18. Chittenden Hall 
77. Chriitie Hall

58. Clement Houie - Admittioni 
17 Convene Hall 
29 Cook Phytieal Sciencei Building,

82. Davil Hall 
9. Fleming Muieum

1 6. Given Medical Building 
64 Grone Mount 

6 Ground, & Cuttodial Building 
69 Guttenon Field Houie

80. Hamilton Hall

28. Hilli Agricultural Scier^^Aldmg 
56. Hilli Greenhouiet ^^B

fejM;^ ; _.,,, 
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A»*S%"::- lr ""%
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11. Ira Alien Chapel 
4. JeanneManceHall 
2.JohnDeweyHall

25. Lafayette Hall
5 1 . Living/Learning Complex

33. Maintenance Office Building 
10 Manifield Houie 
54-MorthHall 
26. Marih Life Sciencei Building

23. Math Department 
14 Medical Alumni Building 
15 Medical Sciencei Building

-DeGoetbriandUnit 
8 Medical Center Hoipitol of Vermont 

-Mary Fletcher Unit 
84 Miller Reiearch Complex 
32. Mill,. Harri, Complex 
41. MorrtllHall 
43 Mu*ic Annex 
44 Muiic Building 
93. Muiic Department 
47 479 MainSt 
50 601 MainSt

55 Newmon Center, St . Augu.tine't 
39. Old Mill

- ^JS^T*

67. Patrick Gymnaiium 
75 Patterian Hall

49 PomeroyHoll 
62 Preiidenft Houie 
56. Proteitant and Epitcopal Center, 

St Anielm't

B6. ftedttone Cottage 
70 fled* tone Hall

91. Reicue Wagon 
95 Retourt* Economic, and 

Recreation Reiourcet Management 
73. RobinionHall 

3. RowellNuningand 
Allied Health Science Building 

4U Royall lyler Theatre

79 SimpionHoll 
74 SladeHall 
89. Sociology Department 
71 Sourhwick Muiic Complex* 

5. Special Education

94 196 South ProipeetSt 
87 7) South William* St.

52.TupperHall

36 Univertitv Store 
90. Vermont State College, Office, 
2 1 . Votey Engineering Building

61. Wanon Infirmary 
42 Waterman Building 
S3 Wilk. Hall
24 William* Hall 
20 Will, Hall

76. Wright Hall
57 WRUV Studio

1 Medical Center Ho, pita 1 of Vermont 
-DeGoeibriandUnit 

2 John Dewey Hall 
3. Rowell Nurtingand

4 JeanneManceHall 
5. Special Education 
6 Ground, & Cuttodial Building 
7 Centennial Field 
8 Medical Center Hotpital of Vermont

9. Fleming Muieum 
0. Manifield Houie 
I.Ira Alien Chapel 
2. Art Building 
3. Pertdn, Geology Building 
4. Medical Alumni Building 
5 Medical Sciencet Building

7. Convene Hall 
6 Chittenden Hall 
9 BuckhamHaM 
0. Will* Hall 
1 . Votey Engineering Building 
2 Billing* Student Center 
3 Math Department 
A William, Hell 
5 Lafayette Hall 
6. Morth Life Sciencei Building 
7. Benedict Auditorium 
8. Hilli Agricultural Science. 

Building

0- Agricultural Engineering Barn 
1 Agricultural Engineering Building 
1. Millii-Horrii Complex

4 Burlington Dental Clinic 
5 Terrill Home Economic* Building 
6- Bailey Library 
7. Carrigan Dairy Science Building 
8. Univertity Store 
9 Old Mill 
0. RoyallTyler Theatre 
1 MorrillHall

3 Muiic Annex 
4 Muiic Building

6. Alumni Haute 
7. 479 Main St.

48. Claitici, Philotophy, Religion 
49. Pomeroy Hall 
50.601 MainSt 
51. Living/Learning Complex

53. Auttin Hall 
54. Marth Hall 
55 Newmon Center, St, Auguttine't 
56. Proteitant and Epiicopol Center, 

St Anielm'i

58. Clement Houie- A dm it. loot 
59. Alien Houie 
60. Bittenwevt 
61. Waiion Infirmary 
62 Pretidenfi Houte 
63. Counieling and letting 
64. Graiie Mount

66. Blundell Houie 
67. Patrick Gy moot i urn 
68. Hilli Greenhouiet 
69. Gutterton Field houie 
70. Redttone Hall 
7 1 . Sauthwick Muiic Complex* 
72. Coolidge Hall 
73. Robinion Hall 
74. SladeHall 
75. Pottecion Hall 
76. Wright Hall 
77. Chriitie Hall 
76. Maton Hall

80. Hamilton Hall 
81. Wing Hall 
82. Davit Hall

B4. Miller Reiearch Complex 
B5. Bio-Reiearch Complex 
86. Reditone Cottage 
87. 71 South William. St- 
68. Student Health Facility (Propoied) 
A9. Sociology Department 
90. Vermont Srate Colleget Office) 
91 Reicue Wag -* 
92 Hillel Kouie 
93 Muiic Department 
94 1 96 South ProipeetSt

^^^^leotion Retourcei Management


